
 

 

 
EXECUTIVE 

 

Date: Wednesday 14th May, 2025 
Time: 5.00 pm 

Venue: Mandela Room 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

3.   Minutes - Executive - 30 April 2025 
 

 3 - 16 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER - FINANCE  
 

 

4.   Household Support Fund 2025/2026 
 

 17 - 34 

5.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Tuesday 6 May 2025 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Mayor C Cooke (Chair) and Councillors T Furness, P Gavigan, L Henman, J Ryles, 
P Storey, J Thompson and N Walker 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Scott Bonner / Chris Lunn, 01642 729708 / 01642 729742, 
scott_bonner@middlesbrough.gov.uk / chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive 30 April 2025 
 

 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 
A meeting of the Executive was held on Wednesday 30 April 2025. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Mayor C Cooke (Chair) and Councillors P Gavigan, L Henman, J Ryles, P Storey, 
J Thompson and N Walker 
 

 
PRESENT BY 
INVITATION: 

Councillor I Blades (Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board) 

 
ALSO IN 
ATTENDANCE: 

 D. Hodgson (Local Democracy Reporting Service) 

 
OFFICERS: M Adams, D Alaszewski, S Bonner, C Cannon, G Field, A. Glover, L Grabham, 

A Humble, G Kirby, E Scollay and A Wilson 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillor T Furness 

 
24/90 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting. 

 
24/91 MINUTES - EXECUTIVE - 5 MARCH 2025 

 
 The minutes of the Executive meeting held on 5 March 2025 were submitted and approved as 

a correct record. 
 

24/92 MINUTES - EXECUTIVE SUB-COMMITTEE FOR PROPERTY - 2 APRIL 2025 
 

 The minutes of the Executive Sub-Committee for Property meeting held on 2 April 2025 were 
submitted and approved as a correct record. 
 

24/93 MIDDLESBROUGH PRIORITIES FUND 
 

 The Mayor and Executive Member for Finance submitted a report for Executive’s 
consideration.  
 
The purpose of the report was to propose the governance arrangements for the use of the 
£4.367m Middlesbrough Priorities Fund. The fund was created as part of the Budget for 
2025/26 which was approved by Full Council on 19 February 2025 in the 2025/26 Revenue 
Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan, and Council Tax setting report. 
 
The report set out how the Council proposed to allocate the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund, 
and in paragraphs 4.16 to 4.27, set out the initial list of initiatives proposed by the Mayor and 
the process for identification and approval of future initiatives. 
 
The Final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2025/26 published by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) on 3 February 2025, announced 
significant one-off funding for Middlesbrough Council in 2025/26.  
 
In response to the significant level of single year funding, a Middlesbrough Priorities Fund of 
£4.367m for 2025/26 only was established and approved by Full Council on 19 February 2025 
as part of the 2025/26 Revenue Budget, Medium Term Financial Plan, and Council Tax 
setting report.  
 
The intention of the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund was to deliver high impact, one-off projects 
for the benefit of the communities in Middlesbrough. The temporary nature of this funding 
meant the Council was unable to build it into the ongoing revenue budget. However, elements 
of it may be announced in the future as being recurrent, in which case those elements will be 
built into ongoing budgets.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



30 April 2025 

 

 
The report outlined the governance arrangements for the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund, and 
how the Fund would be allocated and how relevant initiatives would be approved.  
 
It was proposed that the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund was split between two elements 
namely an amount allocated for elected Ward Councillors to bid for, and the remainder for 
initiatives proposed by the Mayor.  
 
To make sure the Council addressed specific issues at a ward level, a portion of the 
Middlesbrough Priorities Fund would be made available for elected Ward Councillors to 
submit proposed initiatives, and this would be allocated at a rate of £5,000 per Ward 
Councillor for projects within their wards. To secure the funding, all Ward Councillors in each 
Ward must agree the use of the funding within the Ward. This would mean that an amount of 
£0.235m would be allocated for this with the remaining £4.132m being allocated for initiatives 
proposed by the Mayor. It was noted this would be in addition to the current Members Small 
Scheme within the Council’s approved Capital Programme and would not replace it.  
 
All funding from the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund needed to be in line with set criteria 
identified in paragraphs 4.8 to 4.11 of the report.  
 
Projects funded from the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund had to be one-off revenue-funded 
activities with no financial recurrence and which aligned with one or more of the cited 
principles which contributed towards delivery of the Council Plan priorities and aims.  
 
The principles against which proposals would be assessed (in addition to impacting positively 
on the Council Plan) were: 
 

 Invest to Save.   

 Extension of existing work / activity, to release additional benefits.  

 Pilots and / or proof of concept activity which will involve a small-scale preliminary project to 
validate the feasibility before potential full-scale implementation. 

 Corporate Peer Review recommendations. 
 
The amount allocated for the Mayor’s initiatives would also need to demonstrate the principles 
addressed and identify the Council Plan priority and aim addressed.  
 
Full documentation would need to be completed for all expenditure from the Fund to ensure a 
full audit trail was maintained and that all expenditure was in line with the criteria outlined 
above.  
 
Work had already been undertaken to identify projects for the Mayor’s initiatives, having an 
allocation of £4.132m. A total of £0.680m of one-off revenue funded activities with no financial 
recurrence had been initially identified which aligned with one or more of the following 
principles, and which contributed towards delivery of the Council Plan priorities and aims. 
Details of the initial initiatives proposed were provided in the paragraphs 4.16 to 4.27 of the 
report below and it was requested that Executive approve these initial initiatives for 
implementation. 
 
The Deputy Mayor expressed her thanks that the child enrichment team would be created as 
part of the priorities fund. It was also commented that all Member briefings should be 
established to both update, and distinguish, between the Priorities Fund and the Members 
Small Scheme Allocation.  
 
OPTIONS 
 
The absence of a governance and application process for the use of the Middlesbrough 
Priorities Fund could mean that the Fund was not utilised in accordance with that set 
out in the 2025/26 Budget approved by Council on 19 February 2025. There would also 
be a risk that the allocated funding was not used in accordance with Best Value 
considerations. 
 
ORDERED that Executive:  
 

1. APPROVES the governance arrangements for the £4.367m Middlesbrough 

Page 4



30 April 2025 

 

Priorities Fund  
2. APPROVES the proposed allocation of the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund 

between an allocation for elected Ward Councillors (£0.235m) with the 
remaining amount for initiatives proposed by the Mayor (£4.132m)  

3. APPROVES the following initial list of initiatives proposed by the Mayor 
totalling £0.680m with details being provided in paragraphs 4.16 to 4.27 of the 
report, namely Childhood Enrichment Team (£0.250m); Youth Group seed 
funding (£0.100m); Shop fronts improvements scheme (£0.180m) and Grass 
verges replacement (£0.150m).  

4. APPROVES the process for identification and approval of future initiatives 
proposed by the Mayor, including the requirement for the Executive to approve 
budget allocations for future initiatives from the Middlesbrough Priorities Fund. 

 
REASONS 
 
The decision would enable the effective use of the approved Middlesbrough Priorities 
Fund and ensure Best Value was obtained. 
 

24/94 NEIGHBOURHOODS MODEL 
 

 The Mayor submitted a report for Executive’s consideration.  
 
The purpose of the report was to seek approval for the introduction of a Neighbourhood Model 
as a key part of the Council’s core operating model and to agree the funding to support its 
introduction. 
 
The Council recognised that, in order to provide high quality and modern services within an 
affordable budget, it needed to transform into an organisation that worked with the community 
to achieve its aims and objectives. To achieve this the elected Mayor of Middlesbrough had 
set out his ‘Recover, Reset and Deliver’ transformation programme.  
 
The Neighbourhood Model was part of the transformation programme and aimed to ensure 
partners (both internal across Council departments and external partners) worked together, 
doing things ‘with’ communities and not ‘to’ them. The Council also needed to understand 
what people really wanted and needed to thrive in their lives.  
 
The vision for Neighbourhoods was ‘to make Middlesbrough a cleaner, safer, stronger, and 
healthier place to live through proactive, intelligence-led partnership work and by building 
community resilience, doing things ‘with’ communities and not ‘to’ them.’ This vision was 
routed in the 2024 – 27 Council Plan which set out the Mayor’s vision and ambition for the 
town.  
 
The Neighbourhood Model sought to achieve a joined-up system change centred on a 
recognition that the Council needed to reconfigure relationships between statutory 
organisations, voluntary sector, the private sector, residents, and businesses to achieve 
change by developing collaborative approaches that addressed the underlying causes of 
community problems. The model aimed to strengthen community resilience with a focus on 
prevention, building social capital, and making better connections across the community.  
 
As well as focusing on the community and building social capital, the model also recognised 
that teams across the Council and partners needed to work closely to deliver a multi-agency 
response and this was best achieved by working together on the ground in each 
neighbourhood. The model would also see the introduction of several Community Navigator 
posts that would deliver intensive interventions within a multi-agency environment aiming to 
intervene at the earliest opportunity.  
 
One of the key principles of the Neighbourhood Model was prevention and early intervention 
that helped to reduce escalations. The Navigators would work with partners and apply a 
‘whatever it takes’ attitude to engaging and supporting people who needed help and support. 
In Adult Social Care for example, there has been a shift towards supporting people to stay in 
their homes for as long as possible, which saved public services money and provided better 
outcomes for people. The work of the Neighbourhood Model could accelerate this, by 
reinforcing the support that was available within community settings. The enablers (e.g. policy, 
research, finance, data, etc.) would also help with evaluation and understanding the business 

Page 5



30 April 2025 

 

case for better outcomes and lower spend.  
 
The Navigators would work with partners to identify high intensity users of services and look at 
how collectively the Council could better support them with community links.  
 
Link Workers would work within key partners to break down barriers with their service users 
and in particular work to reduce the resistance of some service users to contact the Council.  
 
The Council had recently adopted a tiered Customer Model that aimed to provide an improved 
journey for the Council’s customers, and this would work closely with the Neighbourhood 
Model to provide customers with a more consistent and streamlined experience. 
 
The current Neighbourhood Model was established in 2024 having learned from the Locality 
Working pilot (2020 – 2023) and brought together several community and environmental 
services. Four Neighbourhood Managers were appointed to oversee the work that needed to 
take place in order to understand the community, learn what needed to change, what role 
each key stakeholder needed to play (including the community) and help to create the 
conditions that were needed to facilitate the changes needed. 
 
The Neighbourhood Managers were currently stretched due to the fact they were also 
responsible for managing large service areas such as Area Care, Community Safety, and the 
library and community hubs. The need to make fiscal savings management and supervisory 
support had been removed from these areas and this needed to be redressed if the model 
was to be successful. This would be resolved through the addition of the Neighbourhood 
Safety Co-ordinator and a number of internal reviews. 
 
The Executive Member for Finance welcomed the creation of the Neighbourhoods model and 
commented that elected Members were a vital stakeholder within the model as they were the 
link between the Council and communities.  
 
It was also discussed that the Neighbourhoods Model would place communities at the heart of 
Council work and would help to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour.  
 
OPTIONS 
 
The other alternative was not to introduce the Neighbourhood Model. However, this 
would act against the Council’s Target Operating Model approach and would prohibit 
gaining the benefits that could be achieved through Neighbourhood Working. 
 
ORDERED that Executive:  
 

1. APPROVES the introduction of the Neighbourhood Model within 
Middlesbrough.  

2. APPROVES the Transformation Programme funding from the flexible use of 
capital receipts to fund the following posts for a 2 year period at a cost of 
£1.021m per annum:  

a. 8 Neighbourhood Navigators to take on a caseload (2 in each of the 4 
areas) - Grade K  

b. 8 Community Development workers to build community capital and 
engage with the community, schools, voluntary and community sector 
and local businesses (2 in each of the 4 areas) - Grade J o Community 
Safety Co-ordinator - Grade K  

c. 4 Neighbourhood link workers to be embedded on rotation within 
partner organisations such as schools and hospitals.  

3. APPROVES a capital allocation of up to £5m for improvements to the 
neighbourhood focused community hubs funded by Transformation 
Programme funding from the flexible use of capital receipts.  

4. APPROVES that an analysis of IT requirements takes place in respect of both 
infrastructure and reporting/ management programmes and that this is fed into 
the IT refresh requirements.  

5. APPROVES that annual reports are submitted to Executive to inform them of its 
achievements and any further development requirements. 

 
 

Page 6



30 April 2025 

 

REASONS 
 
Neighbourhood Working was a key transformational strategy within the Target 
Operating Model. Over the medium-term, its intention was to increase efficiency and 
reduce demand pressure.  
 
Neighbourhood Working would provide better outcomes for the citizens of 
Middlesbrough. 
 
Neighbourhood Working would become the operational model that addressed the 
entrenched challenges within the neighbourhoods of Middlesbrough. 
 

24/95 SOCIAL VALUE CHARTER- FIRST ANNUAL UPDATE 
 

 The Mayor submitted a report for Executive’s consideration.  
 
The purpose of the report was to set out the impact of the Council’s Social Value Charter 
following its adoption 12 months ago. Successful delivery of the 42 commitments within the 
Social Value charter had the potential to have a significant impact on all the Council Plan 
ambitions. Each of the 42 commitments had been aligned to the Council Plan ambition it most 
directly linked to, with many cutting across two or more of the ambitions. The table at 
paragraph 1.1 set out the elements of the commitments within the Charter that had been 
delivered to date.  
 
As local authorities were required to become increasingly financially self-reliant, many were 
looking at how to make their limited resources go ever further while still maintaining the quality 
and breadth of services.  
 
Councils, along with the rest of the public sector were being encouraged to use procurement 
to achieve wider financial and non-financial outcomes, including improving wellbeing of 
individuals, communities and the environment by making social value a decision-making 
criterion when awarding contracts.  
 
Continued implementation of a Social Value Charter had the potential to deliver the a number 
of benefits including encouraging a more diverse range of suppliers to work with the Council 
and its partners, including the participation of small and medium sized enterprises (SME's), 
Voluntary and Community Sector organisations, and local suppliers in general as well as 
promoting fair employment practices that ensured workforce equality and diversity within 
supply chains.  
 
The Council established a working group to oversee activity to embed the commitments within 
the Social Value Charter which had met every four weeks during 2024/5. The achievements of 
that group were summarised in section one of the report and the table in the report set out the 
planned activity over the next 12 months to ensure it continued to drive implementation of the 
Charter. Those activities included:  
 

 Explore opportunities to seek a town wide systematic approach to social value 
exploitation within partnership working across the town through the re-established 
Town Board for partnership working.  

 Reflect the new Procurement Act Social Value obligations and within Council action to 
exploit opportunities and consider the national model.  

 Launch the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy.  

 Support a bid for funding to improve support to international families to access 
employment opportunities by assisting them to get qualifications achieved in their 
home countries, recognised.  

 Reestablishing provision of meaningful work experience opportunities within the 
Council.  

 Use the increased capacity within the Procurement team to increase visibility of social 
value achieved through procurement and strengthen monitoring of compliance. 

 
Work with communities had identified there was a significant number of people that wanted to 
volunteer in outdoor activities such as street cleaning/litter picking. They could see an instant 
benefit to their voluntary work, as well as getting the opportunity to meet up outdoors with 
likeminded people and undertake some physical activity. Volunteers could also bring children 

Page 7



30 April 2025 

 

and get them involved. 
 
The Deputy Mayor queried of social value could include work experience of schools. The 
Mayor responded that the impact section of Executive reports needed to reflect such things 
going forward.  
 
OPTIONS 
 
The Council could choose not to continue to deliver the commitments in its Social 
Value Charter. It would still be compliant with its duties in relation to Best Value. This 
was not recommended as an option as the Council would miss the opportunity to 
deliver the wider benefits to the organisation and the town that could be achieved 
through social value, while still achieving Best Value from its commissioning and 
procurement activity. 
 
AGREED that Executive: 
 

1. NOTE the progress made in the last 12 months to implement the commitments 
set out in the Social Value Charter as set out in section one of the report 

2. ENDORSE the continued implementation of activity to embed the charter over 
the next 12 months, which is summarised in section four for the report. 

 
REASONS 
 
Social Value had the potential to release millions of pounds of public money for 
community benefit and support regeneration of the town. It encouraged smarter 
spending to not only deliver a proposed service but also addressed social, economic, 
and environmental issues in the local community. Continued implementation of the 
commitments in the Charter would ensure the Council’s significant procurement spend 
had a positive, measurable impact on the communities it served. 
 

24/96 RESETTING THE COUNCIL’S APPROACH TO TRANSFORMATION AND DELIVERY OF 
THE COUNCIL PLAN 
 

 The Mayor submitted a report for Executive’s consideration. 
 
The purpose of the report was to set out the proposed direction of travel in relation to the 
Council’s Recover, Reset, Deliver transformation programme.  
 
Middlesbrough Council’s transformation programme was agreed in the report submitted to 
Council on 27 March 2024 entitled, “Approach to Transformation of Middlesbrough Council”. 
The report set out the proposed direction of travel in relation to the Council’s Recover, Reset, 
Deliver transformation programme. 
 
Though improved, the Council’s financial position remained challenging. It was still true that 
the Council must change the way it delivered services and engaged with the community, to 
reduce costs, maintain return on investment and improve outcomes for residents. 
 
Having progressed the initial transformation themes for approximately one year, the report, 
while remaining true to the initial report submitted to Council, highlighted proposed changes to 
the transformation themes to reflect the Council’s current needs; priorities and requirement to 
harmonise more effectively with the Council Plan 2024-27. 
 
In the report of 27 March 2024 titled Approach to Transformation of Middlesbrough  
Council, the organisation’s structure for our initial phase of transformation was  
established and this identified the key thematic areas for transformation which included: 
 

 Adults 

 Children’s 

 Property 

 Customer  
 
A programme Board, led by a member of the Leadership team was established for each of the 
thematic areas and a portfolio of transformation projects was initiated. The thematic 

Page 8



30 April 2025 

 

programme boards worked alongside the Programme Management Office and fed into the 
Corporate Transformation Board, chaired by the Chief Executive, to co-ordinate progress 
across the Council. 
 
At the outset of the transformation programme, the acuity of the Council’s financial challenge 
compelled the Council to minimise financial risk in all activities; in practice this meant there 
were limitations on the Council’s ability to take the managed risks that accompanied the 
fundamental transformation of service delivery.  
 
The Council’s current portfolio contained over sixty initiatives, many of which were important 
continuous improvement activities or savings rather than fundamental transformation. This 
distinction mattered because true transformation changed how the Council operated at a 
fundamental level - redesigning services around residents' needs, adopting new ways of 
working, and shifting from reactive to preventative approaches with a clear focus on the 
delivery of outcomes for our community. It also meant continuous improvement enhanced 
existing services and processes - making them more efficient, responsive, and cost-effective 
within our current ways of working.  
 
In line with discussions with both the Middlesbrough Independent Improvement Advisory 
Board (MIIAB), which had been stood down, and the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge team, 
there was a recognised need for an additional “Transformation Lead” role working to the 
Director of Finance and Transformation. It was anticipated this role would identify the inter-
dependencies and opportunities across the transformation themes to act effectively as a 
“design authority”, ensuring all elements of the transformation programme remained 
connected and consistent with the Council’s aims and plans. It was proposed, therefore, that 
this role would be put in place for an initial two-year period using Flexible Use of Capital 
Resource (FUoCR) funding. 
 
It was therefore proposed that the Council’s reset Transformation Portfolio would focus on four 
key programmes that directly supported delivery of the vision articulated in the Council Plan 
2023-27 - making Middlesbrough a thriving, healthier, safer, and more ambitious place.  
 
OPTIONS 
 
In principle the transformation portfolio could have remained as initially established.  
However, the nature of the projects with Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care 
were predominantly in the nature of incremental service improvements in line with their 
respective improvement plans. This was no less important than transformation but was 
qualitatively different from the narrative and communication plan that would be 
developed to support the reset transformation themes. 
 
ORDERED that Executive: 
 

1. APPROVES the proposed changes to the structure of transformation themes as 
outlined below.  

2. APPROVES the realignment of transformation themes with the Council Plan 
2024-27.  

3. APPROVES the recruitment of a Head of Transformation.  
4. APPROVES the establishment of Continuous Improvement Team. 

 
 
AGREED that the Executive: 
 

1.  NOTES that the transformation of Council services remained critical to 
achieving service improvements from a lower cost base to stabilise the 
Council’s financial position and achieve financial sustainability over the 
medium to long term.  

 
REASONS 
 
The previous year had been one of building necessary foundations for Middlesbrough 
Council. It faced significant challenges head-on, making difficult but necessary 
decisions to secure its financial future. The lifting of the Government's Best Value 
Notice marked a significant milestone in that journey - not just as a technical 

Page 9



30 April 2025 

 

achievement, but as recognition of the hard work and dedication shown by everyone 
across the organisation. Middlesbrough Council stood at a pivotal moment in its 
history; the decisions it made and the actions it took over the next three years would 
shape the town's future for generations to come. The Council had a unique opportunity 
to transform Middlesbrough into a place where everyone could thrive, and the Council 
needed to ensure absolute focus on delivery of the Council Plan. 
 

24/97 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2025 
 

 The Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health submitted a report for 
Executive consideration. The purpose of the report was to set out how we work together 
collectively to improve the health and wellbeing of local communities. It highlighted the 
different experiences of health and illness across South Tees and the key challenges that 
were faced.  
 
The Report used the experience and learning from the You’ve Got This (YGT) programme 
which was a Sport England funded Place Partnership that had challenged traditional ways of 
working over the last six years. The programme took a place-based systems approach driven 
by insight and learning, collaboration and distributed leadership, framed within the context of 
physical activity. 
 
There were several learning points detailed at paragraph 3.1 in the report which aimed to 
extract the learning of value to a much broader context than the work to create and support 
“Active Lives as a Way of Life”. Those learning points included:  
 

a) Leadership was often considered in a hierarchical sense, with the value and 
importance of leadership perceived to increase moving up the hierarchy. The You’ve 
Got This Programme had demonstrated that different types of leadership existed 
throughout organisations and in communities and influencing leadership much more 
broadly was necessary to achieve change within and across organisations.  

b) Traditional partnership models of delivery that focused on compliance and 
accountability could often exclude creativity and discovery as well as building shared 
ownership. These models could drive a transactional approach and miss the 
opportunity to develop relationships within and between people in organisations that 
could also influence behaviours beyond the immediate work. This in turn could open 
new and different areas to progress the aspirations of the partnership. Engagement of 
the leadership of the “horizontals” was important.  

c) To achieve system-change the Council needed to pay attention to organisational 
policies, processes and structures and how they promoted or acted against achieving 
desired outcomes. For example, competitive procurement processes were often a 
barrier to collaboration, pitting potential partners against each other, rather than 
encouraging them to combine their strengths. Deeper consideration of those policies, 
processes and organisational structures and their impact on achieving system change 
is necessary to fully realise the benefits of partnership working. 

 
OPTIONS 
 
There were no other options put forward as part of the report.  
 
AGREED that Executive:  
 

1. NOTES and consider the learning detailed in the report as a set of principles to 
inform the development of transformation programmes and shape the 
development of a future-ready organisation.  

2. NOTES and consider the learning detailed in the report to support 
understanding of how the Council could work more effectively together across 
agencies and communities to achieve the improvements in wellbeing 
articulated in the Mission-led Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
REASONS 
 
The learning identified in the Report will contribute to the development of 
transformation programmes and shape the development of a future-ready organisation.  
 

Page 10



30 April 2025 

 

Learning from the You Got This programme, which had been developed over six years, 
challenging traditional ways of working, taking a place-based systems approach driven 
by insight and learning, collaboration and distributed leadership will support delivery of 
the Middlesbrough Council Plan 2024-2027. 
 

24/98 THRIVE AT FIVE 
 

 The Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health submitted a report for 
Executive’s consideration.  
 
The purpose of the report was to seek approval of the Council’s involvement with Thrive at 
Five as detailed in the report. The decision required an Executive decision in line with the 
constitution at section 6.38.1 (b).  
 
Thrive at Five was a registered national charity that aimed to help children in the early years 
develop strong foundations for life and learning. They built capacity in communities by 
supporting parents and carers and enabled collaboration across the public, private and 
voluntary sectors to achieve sustainable change in early years outcomes. They were a place-
based initiative, bringing significant resource and capacity to the areas within which they 
worked. They operated in areas where the Local Authority worked as a key partner and were 
pathfinding the development of an approach and a replicable model that could be 
implemented across the country.  
 
Thrive at Five were currently working in Stoke-on-Trent and Redcar & Cleveland, as their first 
and second pathfinders respectively. They were now looking for another area to partner with 
to deliver a pathfinder. The report outlined the rationale for Middlesbrough agreeing to work 
with Thrive at five. 
 
The quality of a child’s early experience was vital for their future, as children that started 
school developmentally ready would have a happier, healthier life. Conversely those that 
started behind fell further behind as they progressed through school. School readiness was 
shaped by many interrelated factors such as the effects of poverty, the impact of high-quality 
early education and care, and the influence of ‘good parenting’. 
 
In Middlesbrough a significant number of children started school behind their peers without the 
skills necessary to flourish at school. The average figure hid significant variances between 
areas of Middlesbrough that contributed to the inequalities experienced. In some 
Middlesbrough communities it was more likely that a child would not be ready for school on 
starting at Reception.  
 
The attainment gap between pupils eligible for free school meals and their peers had 
continued to grow over the last 20 years, particularly in locations where poverty was at its 
highest, like Middlesbrough, where significant socio-economic challenges had driven 
inequalities in attainment in recent years. 
 
Parents and carers, and their children, often struggled because the system of support around 
them in their community was fragmented. A 2021 Government review reported “The Start for 
Life offer is still patchy, is not joined up, and is not easily accessible for parents, making it 
almost impossible for them to navigate the system”. Strategies for support were often 
developed in a piecemeal fashion, without sufficient reference to what the evidence and data, 
including, critically, the views of parents, said about needs and how best to address them. 
 
Thrive at Five saw Middlesbrough as a good fit with their ethos as they wanted to work in 
areas where there was a driver of disadvantaged inequalities in levels of child development 
and strong local system leadership and commitment. As a local area Middlesbrough had a 
strong commitment to improve outcomes in the early years, and therefore aligned well 
strategically with Thrive at Five. Whilst there had been some progress, it had been difficult to 
bring about significant and lasting change to the abilities of children starting school. To 
improve outcomes for children there was a need for a collective effort with the public, 
voluntary and private sector working more closely together and with better connection to 
families and the local community. This was exactly what Thrive at Five aimed to achieve. 
 
It was commented that the agenda for the meeting of Executive was focused on investing on 
young people. However, this was important given the statistics showing a 40% school 

Page 11



30 April 2025 

 

readiness gap between certain areas of the town. This initiative, alongside programmes such 
as SHIFT, would help reduce this.  
 
It was also commented that children and young people had not featured prominently on the 
policy agenda for the previous 14 years and this needed addressing. The approach detailed in 
the report relied on the knowledge and expertise of communities. Which was vital to the 
programme success.  
 
The Mayor suggested that recommendation three in the report be changed to six-monthly 
rather than annual.  
 
OPTIONS 
 
If Middlesbrough Council chose not to enter into a partnership and do nothing, it pass-
up the opportunity to bring an additional £3m of funding to narrow the outcome gap in 
school readiness.  
 
The commitment from Thrive at Five to work with Middlesbrough was an opportunity to 
bring in investment, capacity and expertise to bring about positive and lasting change 
for children in the early years which would ultimately reduce the demand for more 
costly services and intervention in later life. 
 
ORDERED that Executive:  
 

1. APPROVES the amendment to recommendation three of the report from an 
annual update to a bi-annual update. 

2. APPROVES the investment into the partnership model with Thrive at Five.  
3. APPROVES in principle, to enter into the five-year Partnership Agreement with 

Thrive at Five subject to legal and finance review and approval. 
4. APPROVES, in accordance with the agreed amendment; to receive a bi-annual 

update of progress. 
 
REASONS 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy had adopted a mission-led approach, where each 
mission was a response to a significant local challenge, where innovation, working 
together and aligning resources had a big part to play in driving large-scale change. 
Missions could not be resolved by any single agency acting in isolation. Each mission 
had a set of ambitious goals that further articulate and explain that mission.  
 
The mission, “We will narrow the attainment gap between children growing up in 
disadvantage and the national average” included two goals on children’s attainment, 
the first one being to “eliminate the school readiness gap between those born into 
deprivation and their peers”.  
 
The Middlesbrough Council Plan 2024-2027 included an aim to improve attainment in 
education and skills. There were wide inequalities in the abilities of children starting 
school in Middlesbrough. The gap in development at Reception age widened as 
children progressed through the school system. Improving the overall school 
readiness and reducing the gap in attainment was critical to improving attainment on 
leaving school.  
 
Whilst there has been some progress, it had been difficult to bring about significant 
and lasting change to the abilities of children starting school. To improve outcomes for 
children there was a need for a collective effort with the public, voluntary and private 
sector working more closely together and with better connection to families and the 
local community. This was exactly what Thrive at Five aimed to achieve.  
 
The Thrive at Five model was a partnership approach, with Thrive at Five bringing 
expertise, enthusiasm and resources. The proposed Council investment would 
leverage in twice as much additional investment from Thrive at Five. 
 

24/99 RESIDENTIAL AND SUPPORTED ACCOMMODATION FOR CHILDREN IN OUR CARE 
AND CARE LEAVERS UPDATE 

Page 12



30 April 2025 

 

 
 The Executive Member for Children’s Services submitted a report for Executive consideration.  

 
The purpose of the report was to seek Executive’s approval to support Children’s Services 
change in its approach to one which focused on prevention and that the remaining capital 
funding of £3.253m identified for 2026/27 would no longer be required. 
 
In February 2023, a report was presented to Executive which laid out a plan to make savings 
in Children’s Services by increasing the number of residential and supported accommodation 
places provided internally by Middlesbrough Council, thereby reducing the spend on external 
placements. The report entitled “Revenue Budget, Council Tax, Medium Term Financial Plan, 
and Capital Strategy 2023/24” submitted to Council on 27 February 2023 provided £4.5m of 
capital investment funding to help support the achievement of the plan and the associated 
savings.  
  
By February 2024, it was clear that the delivery of the plan was being hampered by the cost of 
refurbishment of several identified buildings which were higher than expected and made 
proceeding unviable. 
 
The report presented to Executive on 28 February 2024 (listed at Appendix one of the report) 
updated the three workstreams contained in the earlier plan in an attempt to get the savings 
back on track. Those workstreams were Capital Developments - In-house Children 
Residential Homes; Partnership Commissioned Arrangements; and Optimising in-house 
resources. 
 
Workstream one focused on using capital funding to purchase properties allowing the Council 
to open more homes; workstream two included plans to partner with commissioned providers 
to complement the residential and supported accommodation placements for Middlesbrough 
children and workstream three was focused on selling beds to other Council’s in return for 
income. 
 
In light of all of the information to hand, it was decided to cease work on workstream one. It 
was also felt the Council was not in a position to progress with workstream three, which meant 
both associated savings were at risk, and this was subsequently reported in line with the PMO 
process and budget reporting. 
 
The move to a prevention focus would also review the use of unregulated accommodation for 
Middlesbrough children and young people, ensuring the Council had sufficiency in other 
placement opportunities to avoid continued use. It w hoped that Workstream 2 commissioning 
of more supported placements will offer one route to assist in this matter as well as trying to 
understand why unregulated placements are being relied on so that changes to delivery 
models in our homes can be considered. 
 
Members discussed the change in focus detailed in the report and how Children’s Services 
needed to adapt to changing circumstances. It was also commented that innovative work was 
being undertaken in Children’s Services which was evident from budget clinic exercises. It 
was clarified that the provision of residential homes was still part of Children’s Services 
service offer, and that the change in direction detailed in the report would support this.  
 
The Mayor expressed his thanks to all officers and Members involved in the creation of the 
report and noted the improvements that had been made in Children’s Services.  
 
OPTIONS  
 
The work detailed in the report was being carried out and future options would be 
presented once plans were confirmed in order to seek appropriate governance 
approval. 
 
ORDERED that Executive:  
 

1. APPROVES a change in approach to focus on prevention  
2. APPROVES that Capital of £3.253m in 2026/27 is no longer required. 

 
REASONS 

Page 13



30 April 2025 

 

 
The Service was now on its journey to embed a focus of working in a preventative 
delivery model, which in turn would reduce the need for placements especially 
residential. This in turn meant the plans for internal growth were no longer fit for 
purpose and capital funding was no longer required. The tables at paragraphs 3.2 I the 
report detailed placement types for children and young people in care. The table below 
shows the breakdown of placement type for the 97 children and young people in 
residential care.  
 
Children in Care Population had reduced from 528 to 500. There had been 28 children 
less in care during this period.  
 
There had been an increase of one child that was now in residential placements. The 
Council had seen a decrease of 13 Foster Placement over the 15-month period. The 
suggested new prevention approach of having a programme of work which would 
focus on Preventing Care Starts and Placement Sufficiency through the Children’s 
Transformation Programme would aim to increase the net number of foster carers, 
which would support the reduction of residential placements needed. This programme 
of work would also complement the residential placements governance, to support 
managing the need and future demand of children’s residential home placements. 
 

24/100 FINAL REPORT OF THE ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY PANEL - WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 

 The former Environment Scrutiny Panel had undertaken a review entitled Waste 
Management. A copy of the full report was attached. The Scrutiny Panel had made six 
recommendations upon which a response was sought from the relevant service area. 
 
The Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability and the Director for Environment 
and Community Services submitted a service response to the recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Panel. A copy of the action plan was appended to the report. 
 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board introduced the Scrutiny report and advised the 
review had been undertaken by the previous Environment Scrutiny Panel, whose remit now 
came with in the Place Scrutiny Panel. 
 
The Chair of the Place Scrutiny Panel presented the Scrutiny report. 
 
The Executive Member for Environment and Sustainability provided a response to the 
Scrutiny report and presented the Service Response. 
 
The Mayor commented there were new legislative updates concerning waste management 
and that the introduction of a new waste transfer station was getting nearer. As such a 
suggestion was made to amend to the Service Response to include additional actions. Those 
actions were for updates be provided on relevant forthcoming legislative changes associated 
with waste management and for an update to be provided on timescales for the introduction of 
the waste transfer station.  
 
The Service Area commented that an Executive report was scheduled for consideration by 
Executive in the near future regarding the waste management transfer station.  
 
It was also suggested that any updates provided to Executive should also be provided to 
Scrutiny the Overview and Scrutiny Board or the Place Scrutiny Panel via the Executive 
Forward plan.  
 
ORDERED that Executive: 
 

1. APPROVES the amendments to the action plan (Appendix two) to include an 
update on relevant legislative changes and timescales on the forthcoming 
waste transfer station. Such updates would also be communicated to the 
relevant Scrutiny Panel.  

2. NOTES the content of the Environment Scrutiny Panel’s final report on Waste 
Management (Appendix one). 

3. APPROVES The action plan, as amended, developed in response to the 
Scrutiny Panel’s recommendations.  

Page 14



30 April 2025 

 

 
REASON 
 
It was a requirement that Executive formally considered the Scrutiny Panel’s report and 
confirmed the service area’s response to the accompanying plan. 
 

24/101 INTERIM FUNDING AGREEMENT POLICY 
 

 The Executive Member for Finance and Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Public 
Health submitted a report for Executive’s consideration.  
 
The purpose of the report was to approve the Interim Funding Arrangement Policy which 
would enable the Council to secure repayment of the short-term loan provided in respect of 
residential care fees, whilst providing assurances to the resident that their care home fees 
were being fully covered. 
 
Central Government provided Local Authorities with statutory guidance issued under the Care 
Act 2014 in respect of a single legal framework for charging for care and support under 
sections 14 and 17. The Act was supported by the Care and Support Regulations (Statutory 
Instruments) and Care and Support Guidance and Annexes issued under the Care Act 2014. 
Local Authorities needed to follow this when charging individuals for their care and support 
needs.  
 
In the majority of instances, residents who required residential care were able to manage their 
own affairs or, alternatively, have someone who could legally act on their behalf. In these 
situations, if someone was unable to pay the required fees for their care, they routinely 
entered into a DPA which secured payment of their care home fees moving forward. However, 
there were some instances when residents lacked the mental capacity to act for themselves 
and did not have someone legally appointed to act on their behalf.  
 
In such circumstances, the Council was required to put alternative funding arrangements in 
place to support those individuals. 
 
Implementing this Policy would provide short-term funding where a person’s ability to pay for 
care was based upon their capital, such as a property, and where they were unable to enter a 
DPA or access appropriate funds. The Policy would only apply if someone lacked mental 
capacity, and another person was applying to become their financial Deputy. 
 
OPTIONS 
 
The Council did have the option not to implement the Policy. However, by doing so this 
would have had a negative impact on the Council as it would not be able to recover 
care home fees, apply interest, or charge the administrative costs associated with 
these arrangements.  
 
Under the Care Act, the Council had a duty to provide support to residents who were 
required to go into a care home, including paying care home fees where a resident was 
unable to access funds. If the Policy was not implemented, the Council would not have 
had the financial assurance of an Interim Funding Arrangement to secure payment of 
large debts. 
 
ORDERED that Executive: 
 

1. APPROVES the Interim Funding Arrangement Policy to take effect from 7 May 
2025.  

2. APPROVES the delegated authority to the Director of Adult Social Care and 
Director of Finance and Transformation in consultation with the Executive 
Member of Adult Social Care and Executive Member for Finance to make any 
future minor revisions / modifications to reflect the financial / economic climate 
and / or statutory guidance changes. 

 
 
 
REASONS 

Page 15



30 April 2025 

 

 
The policy was a key decision that would impact on two or more wards and as such 
required Executive approval.  
 
The policy upheld good practice within democratic processes and provided residents 
with a clear understanding of how short-term funding could be provided to support 
those in residential care who lack mental capacity to deal with their financial affairs.  
 
The policy would result in no changes to the support provided, however would further 
strengthen current working arrangements should any queries arise in respect of any 
financial support available.  
 
The policy provided clarification to residents, and those applying to become their 
financial Deputy, with simplified and clear details of their financial responsibilities and 
the support that may be available from Middlesbrough Council.  
 
As the policy would be a working document, it was recommended that delegated 
authority to the Director of Adult Social Care and Director of Finance and 
Transformation in consultation with the Executive Member of Adult Social Care and 
Executive Member for Finance be given to approve future minor modifications to the 
policy to maintain service operation levels. Failure to keep pace with new legislation or 
working practices would leave the Council at risk and could result in inconsistent 
practices.  
 
Until the policy has been formally implemented, special arrangements were being 
utilised to secure the repayment of debts for residential care. Once the policy was in 
place, the special arrangements would end. Those with special arrangements in place 
would be contacted in respect of moving to Interim Funding Arrangements, as per the 
policy. There was no consequential financial impact on residents following the change 
from special arrangements to the policy. 
 

24/102 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 
CONSIDERED. 
 

 None.  
 
All decisions will come into force after five working days following the day the 
decision(s) was published unless the decision becomes subject to the call 
in procedures. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 16



 

1 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Director of Finance and Transformation 

 

Relevant Executive 
Member: 

Executive Member for Finance  

 

Submitted to: Executive 

 

Date: 14 May 2025  

 

Title: Household Support Fund 2025/26  

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Council Plan 
priority: 

A healthy place 

 

Key decision: Yes 

Why: Decision(s) will incur expenditure or savings above £250,000 
and have a significant impact in two or more wards 

 

Subject to call in?: No  

Why: The decision is urgent as the Household Support Fund plan 
needs to be agreed by both Executive and the Section 151 
Officer, and returned to the Department for Work and Pensions 
by no later than 30 May 2025. Due to the short timescales from 
being notified of the grant determination, it does not allow 
sufficient time for any call-in to be considered in order to ensure 
grant funding of £2,914,447.24 can be secured to assist 
vulnerable residents. 

 

Proposed decision(s) 

 
That Executive approves: 
 
The Household Support Fund (HSF) delivery plan for 2025/26 which will be delivered 
between 1 April 2025 and 31 March 2026 as set out in Table 1 (paragraph 4.7) to target 
the main groups below where each has a Council Tax or rental liability for their home: 
 

 Families with children in receipt of benefits 

 Singles / Couples in receipt of benefits below pensionable age 

 Pensioners in receipt of benefits 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



 

2 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Executive summary  

 
On 30 October 2024 Central Government advised a further round of the Household 
Support Fund (HSF) to run from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026.  Guidance was provided 
to Local Authorities on 19 March 2025 advising that a detailed plan should be submitted 
to the Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) by 30 May 2025. 
 
HSF funding provides crisis support to vulnerable households who are most in need with 
the cost of essentials. 
 
Middlesbrough Council has been allocated £2,914,447.24 and the funds must be 
distributed between 1 April 2025 and 31 March 2026. 
 
The Council is required to submit a delivery plan to the DWP following approval by the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer and Executive by 30 May 2025. 
 
The delivery plan has been designed to provide support to the town’s most vulnerable 
residents and low-income households who have a Council Tax or rental liability for their 
home in a similar way as for previous rounds of HSF funding, as outlined below: 
 

 Families with children in receipt of benefits.  

 Pensioners in receipt of Council Tax Reduction but not eligible for the Winter Fuel 
Payment (who could this year receive the full amount of the Winter Fuel Payment 
from HSF). 

 Pensioners who are not in receipt of Council Tax Reduction subject to the qualifying 
criteria (listed in table 1, para 4.7). 

 Singles/Couples which includes those of pensionable age in receipt of benefits. 

 Application-based awards for residents not in receipt of CTR or other benefits 
 
A total of £2.681m will be distributed to the above groups with the remaining 8% (£0.233m) 
allocated to the administrative cost involved with delivery of the plan. 
 
Following implementation of the delivery plan, any remaining funds will be allocated to 
Council Tax accounts with a then current award of CTR where an outstanding balance 

 Pensioners in receipt of Council Tax Reduction (CTR) or Attendance Allowance but 
not eligible for the Winter Fuel Payment 

 Application based awards for residents not in receipt of CTR or other benefits 
 
That any remaining funds following the implementation of the delivery plan are allocated 
to Council Tax accounts, with a then current award of CTR and where an outstanding 
balance remains following the issue of a summons in the 2025/26 financial year. The 
Council also reserves the right to widen the group to include those accounts not in receipt 
of CTR.   
 
That delegated authority is provided to the Director of Finance and Transformation in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Finance to make any modifications or minor 
revisions to the scheme and make decisions in respect of any remaining funds to ensure 
they are distributed in line with the guidance and within the defined timescales.  
 

Page 18



 

3 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

remains following the issue of a summons in the 2025/26 financial year. The Council also 
reserves the right to widen the group to include those accounts not in receipt of CTR. 
 
The full breakdown and associated estimated costs are outlined in Table 1 (paragraph 
4.7) 

 
1. Purpose 
 

1.1 To seek approval for the HSF scheme for the 2025/26 financial year. In addition, to seek 
delegated authority to be provided to the Director of Finance and Transformation in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Finance to make any modifications or minor 
revisions to the scheme and make decisions in respect of any remaining funds to ensure 
they are distributed in line with the guidance and within the defined timescales. 
 

2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That Executive 

 
Approves the HSF delivery plan for 2025/6, which will be delivered between 1 April 2025 
and 31 March 2026 as set out in Table 1 (paragraph 4.7) to target the main groups below 
where each has a Council Tax or rental liability for their home: 

 

 Families with children in receipt of benefits.  

 Pensioners in receipt of Council Tax Reduction but not eligible for the Winter Fuel 
Payment (who could this year receive the full amount of the Winter Fuel Payment 
from HSF) 

 Pensioners who are not in receipt of Council Tax Reduction subject to the qualifying 
criteria (listed in table 1, para 4.7). 

 Singles/Couples which includes those of pensionable age in receipt of benefits. 

 Application-based awards for residents not in receipt of CTR or other benefits. 
 
 
2.2 Approves that any remaining funds following implementation of the delivery plan are 

allocated to Council Tax accounts, with a then current award of CTR and where an            
outstanding balance remains following the issue of a summons in the 2025/26 financial  
year. The Council also reserves the right to widen the group to include  those  accounts 
not in receipt of CTR. 
 

2.3 Approves that delegated authority to be provided to the Director of Finance and 
Transformation in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance to make any 
modifications or minor revisions to the scheme and make decisions in respect of any 
remaining funds to ensure they are distributed in line with the guidance and within the 
defined timescales.  

 
3 Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 

 
3.1 The urgent decision is required as Central Government have only recently advised of a 

further round of the HSF. This funding had been due to end on 31 March 2025, the 
guidance on this was not provided until 19 March 2025, and the HSF delivery plan must 

Page 19



 

4 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

be submitted to the DWP by the 30 May 2025, hence the short timescale for 
implementation. 

 
3.2 Under paragraph 7.25.2 of the constitution, provision is made, under exceptional 

circumstances, for an urgent decision to be implemented immediately upon a decision 
being taken and a call-in is therefore not possible. If the HSF plan was subject to a valid 
call-in, the earliest date for this to be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
would be beyond the deadline date of 30 May 2025. This would then mean that the 
Council would be unable to access grant funding of £2,914,447.24 which is available to 
provide crisis support to vulnerable households in most need with the cost of essentials.   

 

3.3  The Council need to confirm an approach and submit an approved delivery plan to the 
DWP by 30 May 2025 for awards to be made between 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026. 

 

3.4  It is a key decision that impacts on two or more wards and will incur expenditure above   
£250,000. 

 

3.5 The minor amendments that may be required will result in no changes to the threshold 
to services and support provided.   

 

3.6 That delegated authority is provided to the Director of Finance and Transformation in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Finance to make any modifications or minor 
revisions to the scheme and make decisions in respect of any remaining funds to ensure 
they are distributed in line with the guidance and within the defined timescales.  

 
4. Background and relevant information 

 
4.1 On 30 October 2024, the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions announced that the 

HSF would be extended for a further 12 months from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026. 
 

4.2 Each Local Authority is required to prepare a local scheme to determine how the funding 
will be provided and will be allocated.  The grant amount allocated to Middlesbrough is 
£2,914,447.24. 
 

4.3 Government guidance requires Local Authorities to clearly advertise the scheme to 
residents, including publication on the Council website. 

 

4.4 The value of individual awards is to be determined by Local Authorities in accordance 
with the parameters set out in the guidance. 

 

4.5 The proposed scheme is based on the Council’s previous successful HSF schemes and 
including an amount for pensioners who are no longer eligible for the state Winter Fuel 
Payment under the changed criteria introduced in 2024. 

 

4.6 The scheme is designed to support vulnerable residents and low-income households 
which include children, pensioners, people with disabilities and other households who 
may be experiencing financial difficulties brought about by the economic challenges. 

 

4.7 The proposed scheme is set out in Table 1. 

Page 20



 

5 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Table 1 Household Support Fund 2025/26 
 

  Detail 
Cost 
(£m) 

Children (up to 
age 20 if child 
benefit 
received) 

Households eligible for free school meals 
£60 paid per child in both July and December.  Total received £120 per child - 
automated payment 1.250  

  
Application based claim for those in receipt of CTR / UC / HB 
£60 per child, to apply in summer and winter 0.295 

  Section 17 Children Act 1989 Additional Support 0.040 

  

Application based claim for non-CTR / non-benefit residents 
Income eligibility is banded like CTR scheme on household composition 
£100 per household (see ** below for bandings) 0.050 

Pensioners  
(from 66 years 
old) 

In receipt of CTR or AA and not eligible for the Winter Fuel Payment ˆ 
Born pre 23 September 1945 £300 per household 
Born between 23 September 1945 and 22 September 1959 £200 per household 
Application and automated payment methods 0.340 

  

Pensioners in receipt of CTR and Pension Credit Guarantee Credit (PCGC) 
£50 per household 
Application and automated payment methods 0.186 

  

Application based claim for non-CTR / non-benefit pensioners 
Income eligibility is banded like CTR scheme on household composition 
£100 per household (see ** below for bandings) 0.050 

Other 

Singles or couples in receipt of CTR / UC / HB (no children and below pension 
age) 
£45 single applicant, £55 couple 0.090 

  

Application based claim for non-CTR / non benefit residents (below pension age) 
Income eligibility is banded like CTR scheme on household composition 
£100 per household (see ** below for bandings) 0.050 

  
Community Support (All household composites) 
Application for crisis support 0.062 

  Third party support 0.268 

  Sub total 2.681 

  Administration Costs at 8% 0.233 

  Total 2.914 

*UC Universal Credit * HB Housing Benefit * CTR Council Tax Reduction ˆ Dates to fall in line with DWP scheme 

** Banded earnings / income table for applications for residents not in receipt of means-tested benefits: 

Earnings Single Single 1 child Single 2+ children Couple Couple 1 child Couple 2+ children 

Maximum 

annual (gross) 

£30k £33k £40k £40k £44k £51k 

Weekly amount £577 £635 £775 £775 £846 £981 

 

4.8 Estimated expenditure equates to £2.681m (excluding administration costs).   
 

4.9 In line with the guidance, the Council is able to recover administration costs to deliver 
the scheme and these have been calculated at £0.233m.  This equates to 8% of the 

Page 21



 

6 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

scheme funding which is consistent with the level involved with the previous HSF scheme 
and plan. 

 

4.10 Any remaining funds following implementation of the delivery plan (and administrative 
costs) will be allocated to Council Tax accounts with a then current award of CTR and 
where an outstanding balance remains following the issue of a summons in the 2025/26 
financial year.  The criteria may also be widened to incorporate accounts not in receipt 
of CTR. 

 

4.11 The scheme has been designed to provide support across the defined 12-month period 
available to make awards. 

 

4.12 The scheme will be subject to 6 monthly periodic reviews to allow alterations to be made 
should the scheme requirements need to change to keep pace with events and demand. 

 

4.13 Appropriate counter fraud measures will be put in place to minimise risk in accordance 
with the Council’s policies and procedures Counter fraud | Middlesbrough Council 

 
 

5. Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 

5.1 Do nothing; however, without a suitable scheme with sufficient defined criteria approved 
by the Council’s Executive, Section 151 Officer and presented to the DWP, the funds 
cannot be used by the Council to benefit vulnerable residents and low-income 
households.   
 

5.2 Funding could be distributed differently amongst the groups identified or across different 
groups. The plan presented has taken account of the government guidance and 
experience gained through prior schemes to ensure maximum reach to those in need of 
support.     

 
6. Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 

 

Topic Impact 

Financial (including 
procurement and 
Social Value) 

Central Government has allocated the Council £2,914,447.24 
from the HSF as outlined in the Executive summary.  With an 
approved delivery plan the Council can distribute funds within 
the defined timescale between 1 April 2025 and 31 March 
2026 to support the town’s most vulnerable and low-income 
households.  The Council can utilise the grant as per Central 
Government guidance and will not exceed the grant funding 
available.  All funds will be distributed by 31 March 2026 to 
comply with the grant conditions. The Council will retain 
£233k to administer the scheme therefore there will be no 
direct cost to the Council. 

Legal  Central Government guidance provides Local Authorities with 
the option to set its own scheme using funding provided. 
Whilst there are no legal requirements to implement a 
scheme, should the Council decline, and not return the fully 

Page 22

https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/counter-fraud/


 

7 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

approved action plan to the DWP by 30 May 2025, this would 
subject the Local Authority to criticism by both Central 
Government and residents of the town as the Council would 
not be able to provide vulnerable residents with over £2.9 
million of crisis support throughout the year. 

Risk The scheme supports the delivery of the Council’s strategic 
priority ‘A Healthy Place’ to reduce poverty as set out in the 
Council Plan 2024-2027. Council Plan | Middlesbrough 
Council.  
The HSF scheme will assist residents to meet their council 
tax instalments and debt liabilities, which in turn, will mean 
that the Council has funding to work with communities and 
other public services in Middlesbrough to continue to improve 
the lives of local residents.  
 

Human Rights, Public 
Sector Equality Duty 
and Community 
Cohesion 

There are no disproportionate adverse impacts on any group 
or individuals with characteristics protected in UK equity law. 
An impact assessment has been carried out and is attached 
to this report.  
 

Climate Change / 
Environmental  

There are no disproportionate adverse impacts on the 
aspirations of the Council to achieve net zero, net carbon 
neutral or be the lead authority on environmental issues. 
 

Children and Young 
People Cared for by 
the Authority and Care 
Leavers 

The HSF 2025/26 plan does not differentiate based on 
applicant background and therefore has no adverse impact 
on children and young people cared for by the Authority for 
Care Leavers.   
 

Data Protection The collation and use of personal data will be managed in 
accordance with the Council’s Data Protection policy and the 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction Privacy Notice 
Privacy notice - Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction | 
Middlesbrough Council 
 

 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

Implementation and 
publication of the plan 
 
Advise DWP of the formal 
agreement of the delivery 
plan 
  
Periodic Review of the 
Scheme   

Janette Savage 
 
 
Janette Savage 
 
 
 
 

Janette Savage 

Immediately following 
approval. 

By 30 May 2025 

 

6 monthly. 

 

Page 23

https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-plan/
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/about-the-council/council-plan/
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/data-protection-and-privacy/privacy-notices/privacy-notice-housing-benefit-and-council-tax-reduction/
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/data-protection-and-privacy/privacy-notices/privacy-notice-housing-benefit-and-council-tax-reduction/


 

8 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Appendices 
 

1 Delivery plan  
2 Impact Assessment  

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

Department for Work and 
Pensions 

Household Support Fund: 
Guidance for County 
Councils and Unitary 
Authorities in England (1 
April 2025 to 31 March 
2026)  

11 April 2025 

 
Contact: Janette Savage (Head of Resident and Business Support)   
Email: Janette_savage@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Page 24



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Guidance for completing the Delivery Plan for Household Support Fund 7

Before completing this template, please refer to the 'Delivery Plan reporting requirements' section of the 
detailed guidance document.

Please ensure you complete the following tabs:
The green circle with a white tick indicates that the adjacent table is 
compliant:

1 - Governance
The red circle with a white cross indicates that the adjacent table is 
non-compliant:

2 - Anticipated Spend

3 - Anticipated Volumes

4 - Anticipated No of Households

5 - Planned Activities

The delivery plan should cover the anticipated value of grants for vulnerable households.

You need to return the delivery plan by 30 May 2025

When submitting your delivery plan to DWP; please attach and name the excel spreadsheet as follows -

Filename:   HSF7DP_RRR_MMYY (where RRR is your LA code and date of return is in MMYY format) for 
example Brighton & Hove Unitary Authority's May 2025 return would be labelled 

HSF7DP_007_0525 xlsx. 

Send the completed delivery plan, including the name of your LA in the subject line to the DWP to: 

lawelfare.pdt@dwp.gov.uk

Your delivery plan must be signed off by your Section 151 Officer / Chief Finance Officer.  Please ask them 
to complete Table 3 to provide assurance on the correctness of the anticipated spend.  We also require you 
to copy your Section 151 Officer / CFO into your return email when submitting your delivery plan to DWP. 

Reasonable administration costs are funded as part of the grant. 

Traffic Light Guidance System

The Traffic Light Guidance System is used throughout the delivery plan to help 
inform the user and the Cabinet Member of any outstanding required inputs.

P
age 25



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Local authority LA code Has the return been completed in full?

Middlesbrough UA LA041

Reporting period Report type Return date (dd/mm/yyyy)

01/04/2025- 31/03/2026 Delivery Plan

Section 151 Officer signature             

(please type)
Section 151 Officer's email

Cabinet Member (name) Cabinet Member's email
Has the Cabinet Member approved this 

plan? (dropdown)

Is the Section 151 Officer/CFO copied 

into the return email?

5) Totals

Anticipated spend for vulnerable 

households (£)
Anticipated admin costs (£) Anticipated total LA spend (£) Allocation (£)

Percentage of allocation accounted for in 

delivery plan (%)

 £                                           2,680,879.00  £                                                          233,155.78  £                                               2,914,034.78  £                                        2,914,447.24 100%

The green circle with a white tick 
indicates that the adjacent table is 
compliant: 

The red circle with a white cross 
indicates that the adjacent table is non-
compliant:

Governance

Anticipated spend

Anticipated volumes

Anticipated No of households

Planned activities

  3) Section 151 Officer sign off

I have reviewed the financial procedures in place and I am satisfied that they are 

robust enough to protect public funds and that the total anticipated Grant spend by 

the Grant Recipient in this template is exclusively for the purposes set out in the 

Grant Determination Letter between the Grant Recipient and the Secretary of State for 

Work and Pensions in respect of the delivery of the Household Support Fund:

HSF7 Delivery plan

Notes

To complete the Governance tab, please ensure to:

a) choose your Local Authority name in Table 1

b) enter the return date in Table 2 (dd/mm/yyyy)

c) complete all cells in Tables 3 and 4

A summary and explanation of the traffic light system is included below and in the

guidance tab. It details how the system is applied throughout the template.

When a green circle with a white tick appears next to Tables 1 to 4, the tables are compliant.

When a green circle with a white tick appears in Table 1 'Has the return been completed in full?', the delivery plan is 

compliant and ready for submission.

1) LA details

2) Reporting period

End

Traffic Light Guidance System

The traffic light guidance system is used throughout this workbook to help inform the user, Cabinet Member and Section 151 officer of any 
outstanding required inputs. The icons can be found next to each table. 

For DWP use only:

4) Governance 

P
age 26



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Notes

6) Anticipated admin spend Traffic light check

Admin spend
Has the anticipated spend tab been 

completed correctly?

 £                                                    233,155.78 

Households with children (£) Households with pensioners (£) Households with a disabled person (£) Other households (£)
Anticipated total spend (by 

household composition) (£)

 £                                                 1,856,900.00  £                                    534,525.00  £                                              31,250.00  £                                    258,204.00  £                                 2,680,879.00 

Vouchers (£) Cash awards (£) Third party organisations (£) Tangible items (£) Other (£)
Anticipated total spend (by 

types of support) (£)

 £                                                 1,787,500.00  £                                    565,850.00  £                                            242,529.00  £                                      62,500.00  £                                      22,500.00  £                            2,680,879.00 

Application-based support (£) Proactive support (£) Other (£)
Anticipated total spend (by 

access routes) (£)

 £                                                    823,950.00  £                                 1,614,400.00  £                                            242,529.00  £                                 2,680,879.00 

Energy and water (£) Wider essentials (£)
Housing costs (£)                                 

(Please also compete table 12)
Food (£) Other (£)

Anticipated total spend (by 
category) (£)

 £                                                    580,600.00  £                                      62,500.00  £                                                           -    £                                 1,940,450.00  £                                      62,500.00  £                            2,646,050.00 

Advice services (£) Skills (£) Community infrastructure/support (£) Energy efficiency (£) Other (£)
Anticipated total spend (by 

category) (£)

 £                                                      10,140.00  £                                      14,689.00  £                                                           -    £                                      10,000.00  £                                                  -    £                                 34,829.00 

For your anticipated Housing Costs spend 
please select the appropriate option. If this 

is zero please select option 4):

4. Not applicable (no Housing Costs 
spend)

11) Anticipated preventative support spend (£) split by category

HSF7 Anticipated spend

End

7) Anticipated spend (£) split by household composition

8) Anticipated spend (£) split by types of support

9) Anticipated spend (£) split by access routes

The totals cells which auto populate have been greyed out and locked for editing. Please only input into the green cells. 

The totals in the auto populated cells of tables 7 to 11 must be completed for the return to be compliant. The total spend for table 7 to 9 should be the same. The totals for table 10 and 11 
differ in that their combined total should equal the sum of tables 7 to 9.

Please input values in full (e.g. 120,000.00) to enable us to process the return accordingly. Only numbers (eg 123.00) can be entered into each cell. If any other format is input an error 
message will appear. Please ensure that any spend figures you provide are presented to 2 decimal places, If this is not followed your Delivery Plan will be returned for completion

The traffic light system will help you ensure the template is completed in full. For the return to be compliant, all traffic lights must be green with a white tick. 

If there is no anticipated spend to report, in order to enable the green light with white tick next to each table, the cells should still be completed with 0 (zero as a numerical value rather 
than typing out 'NIL', for example). This will help us process the return promptly for you.

'Has the spend tab been completed correctly?' - the traffic light will turn green with a white tick once Tables 6 to 12 are compliant

12) Anticipated housing Costs

If you have reported spend on Housing Costs, please confirm the particular groups and types of support that you have provided including value of spend. If this is zero 
please input N/A:

N/A

10) Anticipated crisis support spend (£) split by category

P
age 27



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Households with children Households with pensioners
Households with a disabled 

person
Other households

Anticipated total volume of 

awards  (by household 

composition)

42756 5583 269 7178 55786

Vouchers Cash awards Third party organisations Tangible items Other
Anticipated total volume of 

awards (by types of support)

29075 5788 20506 192 225 55786

Application-based support Proactive support Other support
Anticipated total volume of 

awards (by access routes)

10907 24373 20506 55786

Energy and water Wider essentials Housing costs                            Food Other

Anticipated total volume of 

awards (by crisis support 

category)

6263 796 0 47899 192 55150

Advice services Skills
Community 

infrastructure/support
Energy efficiency Other

Anticipated total volume of 

awards (by preventative support 

category)

200 236 0 200 0 636

HSF7 Anticipated volumes

Notes

The totals cells which autopopulate have been greyed out and locked for editing. Please only input into the blue cells.

Please ensure that any anticipated volume figures you provide are presented in whole numbers. If any other format is input an error message will appear. If this is not 

followed your Delivery Plan will be returned for completion

The traffic light system will help you ensure the template is completed in full. For the return to be compliant, all traffic lights must be

green with a white tick.

If there are no anticipated volumes to report, in order to enable the green light with white tick next to each table, the cells should still be completed with 0 (zero as a 

numerical value rather than typing out 'NIL', for example).

End

13) Anticipated volume of awards split by household composition

 14) Anticipated volume of awards split by types of support 

15) Anticipated volume of awards split by access routes

 16) Anticipated volume of crisis support awards split by category 

 17) Anticipated volume of preventative support awards split by category 

P
age 28



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Households with children Households with pensioners
Households with a disabled 

person
Other households

Anticipated total number of vulnerable 

households helped (by household 

composition)

13981 5583 269 7082 26915

Vouchers Cash awards Third party organisations Tangible items Other

Anticipated total number of 

vulnerable households helped (by 

types of support)

11296 5788 9414 192 225 26915

Application-based support Proactive support Other

Anticipated total number of 

vulnerable households helped 

(by access routes)

7711 9790 9414 26915

Energy and water Wider essentials Housing costs Food Other

Anticipated total number of 

vulnerable households helped (by 

crisis supoort category)

5863 796 0 19488 192 26339

Advice services Skills
Community 

infrastructure/support
Energy efficiency Other

Anticipated total number of 

vulnerable households helped (by 

preventative supoort category)

200 236 0 140 0 576

HSF7 Anticipated number of households helped

Notes

The totals cells which autopopulate have been greyed out and locked for editing. Please only input into the blue cells.

Please ensure that any anticipated volume figures you provide are presented in whole numbers. If any other format is input an error message will appear. If this is not 

followed your Delivery Plan will be returned for completion.

The traffic light system will help you ensure the template is completed in full. For the return to be compliant, all traffic lights must be green

with a white tick.

If there are no anticipated numbers to report, in order to enable the green light with white tick next to each table, the cells should still be completed

with 0 (zero as a numerical value rather than typing out 'NIL', for example). 

End

18) Anticipated number of households helped split by household composition

20) Anticipated number of households helped split by access routes

 19) Anticipated number of households helped split by types of support 

 21) Anticipated number of households helped from crisis support split by category 

 22) Anticipated number of households helped from preventative support split by category 

P
age 29



 This document was classified as: OFFICIAL#

Energy and water Wider essentials (£) Housing costs Food Other

Energy vouchers can be provided to those who have a pre-payment 
meter
Payment to pensioners in receipt of CTR who do not qualify for a winter 
fuel payment to support with energy costs, Payment, per household

Born pre 23 September 1944     £300 
Born between 23 September 1944 and 22 September 1958  £200 
Third party support for all houshold composites

£40k, has been assigned to children's services to provide essentials to 
families / children who are presenting as vulnerable.   
Part of the offering for those not in receipt of benefits allows for people to 
make a choice between food voucher or support with other essentials

N/A

Families in receipt of FSM two awards in the 12 month period of £60 
voucher per child
Other Middlesbrough families in receipt of FSM, on UC/HB or have CTR 

by application (£60 voucher per child, applications available twice in the 
12 month period). 
Part of the offering for those not in receipt of benefits will allow them to 
choose between this or wider essentials support, £100 per household.
Singles / Couples in receipt of benefits, £45 voucher for a single person 

and £55 voucher for a couple
Funds will be provided to third party providers

Funding has  been assigned to provide residents with energy efficient white 

goods.

Advice services Skills Community infrastructure/support Energy efficiency Other

£10k has been assigend to a third party provider to support with debt 
advice

£14.5k has been assigned to a third party provider to assist with back to 
work courses and support

N/A
£50k has been assigned to support with energy advice and guidance and 
an energy voucher

N/A

Vouchers Cash awards Third party organisations Tangible items Other

Energy vouchers will be issued where people have the required meter

Food vouchers will be used to support people on most routes and this is 
done to allow them to free up disposable income to support with energy 
costs

These will be made where we are not able to provide vouchers digitally, 
mainly for pensioners, and is designed to support with energy costs

Funds have been assigned to various third parties who have applied for 
help - food banks, eco shops, energy support and HAF support to 
extend the scheme

Energy effiecient white goods are available to residents in crisis who 
require support as well as essentials such as beds, coats etc

As part of the application process for those not in receipt of benefits we 
are offering different methods of support for their wider essentials, this 
amount may change depending on what choice the resident makes

Application-based support Proactive support Other

Application for households in receipt of FSM where children are not of 

school age or attend an out of area school
There will be an application form for people not in receipt of benefits
Applications for tangible items. 
An application form for people in receipt of benefits and an application 
process for pensioners

Those in receipt of FSM in Middlesbrough schools. Pensioners who 
have entitlement to Council Tax Reduction and will not receive a winter 
fuel payment, will receive automatic awards where details were gathered 
by application under the previous scheme

Third party support has currently been loaded in to this section

1) A detailed plan and timeline has been put together ensuring support will be available to different categories of households throughout the fund 
period.

We have a dedicated website page which contains all links to applications and details of eligibility.  We utilise digital support such as facebook and 

depending on who we are trying to reach we will write to households or send text messages to promote applications. We also work closely with 
other departments to ensure that people such as social workers, welfare rights team etc are aware and can verbally promote the scheme and 

assist with applications where necessary.
We are targeting housholds in receipt of benefits across varying household compositions  and we are also targeting those in work who are not in 
receipt of benefits where they are struggling to meet their basic needs due to inflationary pressures.  Targeted support for pensioners who are no 

longer eligible for the Winter Fuel Payment but on a low income.
Residents are verified using the council tax / benefits data held; bank statements and other evidence is collected for some of the applications.

Third party organisations have a template to provide regular updates on how the funding is being used and will have a meeting every 2 months to 
review this.

We do have a local welfare assistance scheme that continues to run alongside the HSF funding; this opens up additional avenues to offer support 

to residents who present in crisis allowing us to point people to the most appropriate support for their needs.
We evaluate effectiveness of the different elements of the scheme on an on-going basis and this is done within the normal administration costs.  

HSF7 Planned activites

25) Planned activities - Types of Support

26) Planned activities - Access Routes

27) Planned activities - Further information

Please refer to guidance document for questions to respond to using this field

Notes
All grey boxes require a written response.

If there is nothing to report in a cell, write “N/A”. Only use “N/A” where you have no reported spend for that category. For example, if you have reported a spend of 0 for tangible items, you will record 

“N/A” in the box below “tangible items”. 

Any categories for which you are reporting anticipated spend in previous tabs needs a written explanation. 

The traffic light system will help you ensure the template is completed in full. For the return to be compliant, all traffic lights must be green with a white tick. 

You must refer to the full guidance document when completing this tab to ensure you have provided all necessary information, including the relevant questions to cover in table 27.

24) Planned activities of preventative support split by category

23) Planned activities of crisis support split by category

P
age 30



 

Impact Assessment Level 1: Initial screening assessment           
 

Subject of assessment: Household Support Fund (HSF) scheme 2025/2026 

Coverage: Crosscutting 

This is a decision relating to: 

 Strategy  Policy  Service  Function 

 Process/procedure  Programme  Project  Review 

 Organisational change  Other (please state) 

It is a: New approach:  Revision of an existing approach:  

It is driven by: Legislation:  Local or corporate requirements:  

P
age 31



 

Description: 

Key aims, objectives and activities  

To assess the impact of proceeding with the adoption of the proposed Household Support Fund 2025/26 scheme.  
 

Statutory drivers  

The Council is required to adopt a new scheme as part of the Household Support Fund to distribute £2.91m.  The funds are provided by Central 
Government to support households who would otherwise struggle to buy food or pay essential utility bills or meet other essential living costs or 
housing costs (in exceptional cases of genuine emergency) and to promote or undertake activity that prevents households facing similar 
hardship in the future. The delivery plan is due to be returned to the DWP by 30 May 2025.   
 

Differences from any previous approach  

The Council acknowledge that Central Government changed legislation in 2024 which meant that a number of pensioners did not receive a 
Winter Fuel Payment (WFP). As things stand, this will continue in 2025 and the funding for those pensioners who are missing out on a WFP is 
proposed to be increased in the 2025/26 scheme. The Delivery Plan includes an element of support for these pensioners: 
 

 Pensioners in receipt of Council Tax Reduction but not eligible for the Winter Fuel Payment. 

 Pensioners who are not in receipt of Council Tax Reduction subject to the qualifying criteria. 

 

Key stakeholders and intended beneficiaries (internal and external as appropriate)  

Key stakeholders: Council and local residents.  
 

Intended outcomes.  

To seek approval for the delivery plan required by the DWP in line with Central Government criteria. That delegated authority is provided to the 
Director of Finance and Transformation to make any modifications or minor revisions to the scheme and make decisions in respect of any 
remaining funds to ensure they are distributed in line with the guidance and within the defined timescales. Any revisions or modifications will 
be done in consultation with the Executive Member for Finance.  
 

Live date: The Executive will consider the HSF scheme by 30 May 2025.  

Lifespan: Funding has been provided for the period 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026.  

Date of next review: April 2026 

P
age 32



 

Screening questions 

Response 

Evidence 

No Yes Uncertain 

Human Rights 

Could the decision impact negatively on individual Human Rights as enshrined in UK 
legislation?*  

   

The HSF scheme is provided by central government to 
provide crisis support to vulnerable households in most 
need with the cost of essentials. The local scheme is 
based on government guidance and criteria, and is 
designed to support households with children, 
pensioners, those with disabilities and other 
households who may be experiencing financial 
difficulties. This support does not reduce or replace 
other existing forms of support and therefore no 
resident will be adversely affected. Support will be 
provided through a combination of direct automated 
awards and application-based claims. In addition, 
contingency is in place to provide for situations where 
an award of relief might be justifiable outside of the 
eligibility criteria. In light of the above, it is not 
considered that the report will have an adverse impact 
on individuals in terms of human rights. 

Equality 

Could the decision result in adverse differential impacts on groups or individuals with 
characteristics protected in UK equality law? Could the decision impact differently on 
other commonly disadvantaged groups?* 

   

The HSF scheme is provided by central government to 
provide crisis support to vulnerable households in most 
need with the cost of essentials. The local scheme is 
based on government guidance and criteria, and is 
designed to support households with children, 
pensioners, those with disabilities and other 
households who may be experiencing financial 
difficulties. This support does not reduce or replace 
other existing forms of support and therefore no 
individuals will be adversely affected. Support will be 
provided through a combination of direct automated 
awards and application-based claims. In addition, 
contingency is in place to provide for situations where 
an award of relief might be justifiable outside of the 
eligibility criteria. In light of the above, it is not 
considered that the report will have an adverse impact 
on different groups or individuals in terms of equality. 

                                            
* Consult the Impact Assessment further guidance appendix for details on the issues covered by each of these broad questions prior to completion. 

P
age 33



 

Screening questions Response Evidence 

Community cohesion 

Could the decision impact negatively on relationships between different groups, 
communities of interest or neighbourhoods within the town?* 

   

The HSF scheme is provided by central government to 
provide crisis support to vulnerable households in most 
need with the cost of essentials. The local scheme is 
based on government guidance and criteria, and is 
designed to support households with children, 
pensioners, those with disabilities and other 
households who may be experiencing financial 
difficulties. This support does not reduce or replace 
other existing forms of support and therefore no 
community groups will be adversely affected as a 
result. Support will be provided through a combination 
of direct automated awards and application-based 
claims. In addition, contingency is in place to provide 
for situations where an award of relief might be 
justifiable outside of the eligibility criteria. In light of 
the above, it is not considered that the report will have 
an adverse impact on relationships between different 
groups, communities of interest or neighbourhoods 
within the town. 

Next steps: 

 If the answer to all of the above screening questions is No then the process is completed. 

 If the answer of any of the questions is Yes or Uncertain, then a Level 2 Full Impact Assessment must be completed. 

 

Assessment completed by: Rachael Burton Head of Service: Janette Savage 

Date: 10.04.2025 Date: 10.04.2025 

 

 

P
age 34


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - Executive - 30 April 2025
	4 Household Support Fund 2025/2026
	Appendix 1 - Household Support Fund (April 2025 - March 2026) Delivery Plan
	Appendix 2 - Impact Assessment Level 1


